**RECEIVED**

**Nov 17 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM PICKEMS COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000033

---

Deonda Weldon, Individually and as  
Personal Representative of the Estate  
of Earline Cooley,

.....

Appellant,

v.

Dominion Clemson, LLC d/b/a  
Dominion Senior Living at Patrick  
Square, Dominion Senior Living,  
LLC, Dominion Clemson, II, LLC,  
Dominion Management Group,  
LLC, and Dominion Group, LLC

.....

Respondents.

---

**APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

Matthew W. Christian  
Christian & Christian, LLC  
1007 E. Washington Street

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the circuit court erred in finding a binding arbitration contract when the record shows Ms. Galloway had no authority to sign the Admission Agreement on her mother's (Ms. Cooley's) behalf.
2. Whether Respondents waived any right to pursue arbitration by garnering nearly eight months' worth of litigation-only discovery benefits and by failing to act on a power-of-attorney document that had been in their possession for nearly two years.
3. Whether the Admission Agreement's onerous damage limitations, liability waivers, and other one-sided terms render the purported contract unconscionable.
4. Whether the circuit court erred in finding the Admission Agreement's arbitration provision binds Ms. Cooley's uconsenting beneficiaries identified by statute to recover under South Carolina's distinct, independent wrongful death claim.
5. Whether the Respondent Corporate Entities may enforce a purported arbitration contract to which they are not parties and that specifically limits its scope to disputes between its parties.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant Deonda Weldon, in her individual capacity and in her role as Personal Representative for the Estate of her mother Earline Cooley, initiated this civil action by filing a Summons and Complaint in the Pickens County Court of Common Pleas on October 13, 2021. (R. pp. 27-73). The suit alleged medical, ordinary, and corporate negligence claims against Respondents Dominion Clemson, LLC d/b/a Dominion Senior Living at Patrick Square ("the Facility"), Dominion Clemson, II, LLC, Dominion Management Group, LLC, and Dominion Group, LLC. (R. pp. 74-89). Respondents filed a joint answer on December 21, 2021, and the parties began discovery. See e.g. (R. pp. 167-68). After several months of merits discovery, the Facility and Dominion Senior Living, LLC filed a Rule 12(b)(1), (2), (3), and (6), SCRCP, motion to compel arbitration on June 9, 2022. (R. pp. 306-08). The same motion cited Rule 26(c), SCRCP and requested a protective order exempting these parties from existing and future discovery obligations. Id.

Appellant responded on October 18, 2022, with a memorandum in opposition, affidavits from Ms. Weldon and her sister Debra Galloway, and a number of other exhibits. (R. pp. 428-65). The Facility and Dominion Senior Living, LLC filed a supporting memorandum one day later. (R. pp. 372-97). The Honorable G. D. Morgan Jr. held oral arguments for the motions on October 20, 2022. (R. pp. 90-166). Judge Morgan entered a Form 4 order granting the motion on October 26, 2022, ruling in the movants favor on five points and instructing their attorney to draft a proposed formal order for review. (R. pp. 1-3). Judge Morgan’s final order, entered on January 3, 2023, was captioned as an “Order Granting Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration and Dismissing Cases,” and ordered Appellant’s lawsuit “be dismissed.” (R. pp. 4); 25 (granting motion and ruling that “this matter is **DISMISSED**”) (emphasis in original). Appellant filed and served a timely notice of appeal on January 10, 2023. (R. p. 744).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Decedent Earline Cooley’s health had grown worrisome in February 2019. She was suffering from diabetes and related neuropathy along with dementia often leading to anxiety and depression. (R. p. 34 ¶ 9). With few options available in Pickens County for residential care, Ms. Cooley’s declining health created a stressful time for her three daughters Deonda Weldon, Robin Elliott, and Debra Galloway. (R. p. 469 ¶ 9). Their mother’s situation required the selection of a qualified facility to meet Ms. Cooley’s growing needs and the appointment of a representative to perform the legal tasks Ms. Cooley’s mental and physical infirmities prevented her from doing for herself.

Ms. Cooley had made her intentions known for a legal representative in a Durable Power of Attorney she executed in 2006. Ms. Cooley appointed Ms. Weldon as her sole “agent.” (R. p. 345). It was only if Ms. Weldon was “unable or unwilling or unavailable to serve” that Ms. Cooley

intended for anyone else to make legal decisions for her. If that contingency was proved, Ms. Cooley appointed Ms. Elliott as her “substitute or successor” agent who would then be empowered to step in and exercise the same authority Ms. Weldon had. Id. Ms. Cooley also addressed the possibility that at some point Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott would *both* prove “unable or unwilling or unavailable to serve” as her agent. If, and only if, that contingency proved true, Ms. Galloway would be empowered as Ms. Cooley’s second substitute or successor agent. Id.

The family chose to move Ms. Cooley to the Facility, an assisted living center in Clemson, South Carolina, that represented itself as possessing the necessary funding and personnel to meet Ms. Cooley’s needs. (R. pp. 29-30, 34 ¶¶ 3, 8). On February 14, 2019, a Facility representative presented a “Dominion Senior Living Resident Admission Agreement” (“Admission Agreement”) to Ms. Galloway. According to Ms. Galloway’s sworn statement, the Facility could have presented the Admission Agreement to either of her two sisters as neither had indicated she was unwilling or unable to serve as Ms. Cooley’s agent. (R. pp. 468-69 ¶¶ 2, 10). In fact, Ms. Weldon’s affidavit acknowledges Ms. Cooley had made it her responsibility to consider documents like the Admission Agreement and both she and Ms. Elliott were available and willing to carry out their duties as agents in February 2019. (R. pp. 466-67 ¶¶ 2, 4). Ms. Weldon would not have executed the Admission Agreement as the Facility presented it because of its worrisome terms. (R. p. 466 ¶ 3). The Admission Agreement included “Agreement to Arbitrate” and “Limitations of Liability” provisions designed to dramatically alter the procedure and substance of any effort to recover for harms Ms. Cooley might suffer at the Facility. (R. pp. 320-21 ¶¶ 13, 15). Despite these circumstances, the Facility presented the Admission Agreement to Ms. Galloway and she signed. (R. pp. 328).

Ms. Cooley became a Facility resident on March 8, 2019, but did not receive the care or services she needed. Over the next year, Ms. Cooley suffered a series of increasingly severe and preventable falls at the Facility. She fell in her room, the bathroom, the hallway, and the dining room. (R. pp. 35-37 ¶¶ 14-32). Appellant alleges the Facility knew Ms. Cooley had a high risk of falls but did little to prevent them. (R. p. 34 ¶¶ 10-11). The Facility did not even create a care plan for Ms. Cooley for the first eight months that she lived there. (R. p. 34 ¶ 12). Ms. Cooley’s physical therapist noted how unsteady she had become and her need for assistance in movements. (R. p. 36 ¶ 23). Yet, the Facility did not make any adjustments—no modifications to her room, no effort to assist her as she moved from one location to the other. (R. pp. 36-37 ¶¶ 24, 31). As the falls began piling up, so did Ms. Cooley’s injuries. What started out as bruising (R. p. 35 ¶ 15) became a knock on the head and then “pain all over” her body. (R. pp. 35-37 ¶¶ 17, 32). Following a March 9, 2020 fall, an ambulance took Ms. Cooley to the emergency room. (R. p. 37 ¶¶ 32-33). Doctors diagnosed her with a urinary tract infection and a fractured femoral head requiring surgery. (R. p. 37 ¶ 33). The surgery resulted in additional complications (hypoxia and thrombocytopenia) from which Ms. Cooley did not recover. (R. pp. 37-38 ¶¶ 33-35).

Appellant filed this action on October 13, 2021, seeking personal injury and wrongful death damages from the Facility for medical and ordinary negligence. Appellant also alleged the neglect that led to Ms. Cooley’s death was part of a bigger problem at the Facility. The Complaint’s corporate negligence claim focused on the constellation of legal entities responsible for the Facility’s operations including Respondents Dominion Senior Living, LLC, Dominion Clemson, II, LLC, Dominion Management Group, LLC and Dominion Group, LLC (collectively, “Corporate Entities”). (R. pp. 43-44 ¶¶ 46-49). The Corporate Entities controlled the Facility’s finances and how funds are allocated to the provision of services to residents. (R. pp. 29-34 ¶¶ 3-7). Appellant

alleges the Corporate Entities systematically starved the Facility of the funds needed to meet residents' needs and pocketed the money as profits. Id. As a result, the Facility lacked the number of qualified and trained staff members needed to assist Ms. Cooley as she continued to fall. (R. pp. 40-43 ¶ 40).

The circuit court dismissed Appellant's actions, finding all of her claims must be arbitrated pursuant to the Admission Agreement's "Agreement to Arbitrate" provision. (R. pp. 4-26). Appellant argues the Admission Agreement is not a binding arbitration contract because Ms. Galloway lacked authority to execute it on Ms. Cooley's behalf. (R. pp. 428-65). Appellant also argues Respondents waived the right to pursue arbitration and that the purported arbitration provision is unconscionable, inapplicable to Appellant's wrongful death claim, and unenforceable by the Corporate Entities. Id.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellate courts apply a *de novo* review to a circuit court's ruling on which individuals or entities are bound to a purported arbitration contract. Wilson v. Willis, 426 S.C. 326, 335, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019) (citing Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007) and Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp., 400 S.C. 281, 286, 733 S.E.2d 597, 599 (Ct. App. 2012)). While the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") imposes a presumption favoring arbitration, the presumption does not apply to the "identity of the parties who may be bound to such an agreement." Id. at 337-38, 827 S.E.2d at 173. In fact, there is a presumption against arbitration when enforcement is sought against a non-signatory. Id.

## ARGUMENT

### **1. The Circuit Court Erred in Finding the Facility Proved the Formation of a Valid Arbitration Contract.**

South Carolina’s nursing home arbitration jurisprudence shows that a court’s primary task is to determine whether there is a valid arbitration contract and, specifically, to ascertain whether the individual who signed the proposed contract for a nursing home resident had the legal authority to act on the resident’s behalf. Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc., 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014); Thompson v. Pruitt Corp., 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016); Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).<sup>1</sup> The authority question was a “strong point of contention” here. (R. p. 105 lines 9-10). Yet, the circuit court did not address it until the order’s penultimate page, without any citations, and in just three paragraphs. (R. p. 24). Even then, the circuit court failed to properly analyze the power of attorney document the Facility claims granted Ms. Galloway authority. Since the record shows the Facility did not meet its burden to prove a valid arbitration contract, the circuit court’s dismissal of Appellant’s claims should be reversed.

Mutual assent is an essential requirement of any contract. Laser Supply & Services, Inc. v. Orchard Park Assoc., 382 S.C. 326, 334, 676 S.E.2d 139, 143-44 (Ct. App. 2009.) Yet, the circuit court concluded the Admission Agreement (and its arbitration provision) were valid and binding

---

<sup>1</sup> The circuit court erred in viewing this task through “the lens of presumed enforceability.” (R. p. 8). The federal and state pro-arbitration policies to which the circuit court refers are limited to arbitrability matters (i.e. the scope of arbitrable issues) not at issue here. Wilson, 426 S.C. at 337, 827 S.E.2d at 173. The South Carolina Supreme Court specifically refuses to presume the enforceability of a proposed arbitration agreement and instructs courts to subject it to the same formation requirements as any other contract. Id. at 337-38, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (citing Global Pac., LLC v. Kirkpatrick, 88 N.E.3d 431, 435 (Ohio Ct. App. 2017) (“a presumption *against* arbitration arises where the party resisting arbitration is a nonsignatory to the written agreement . . .”) (emphasis in original)).

against Ms. Cooley and her estate even though Ms. Cooley never signed or otherwise assented to its terms. The circuit court found Ms. Cooley had delegated authority to execute the Admission Agreement to Ms. Galloway via her Durable Power of Attorney and, therefore, Ms. Galloway's signature on the document was sufficient to create a binding contract. (R. p. 24). Thus, the circuit court's task was to interpret the Durable Power of Attorney to determine whether Ms. Galloway had the authority the Facility claimed.

Powers of attorney must be construed using general contract interpretation rules. Arredondo v. SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC, 433 S.C. 69, 75, 856 S.E.2d 550, 553-54 (2021) (citing Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc., 426 S.C. 568, 577, 828 S.E.2d 82, 87 (Ct. App. 2019)). Chief among those rules is a court's duty to read a power of attorney to effectuate its principal's intent as expressed through the unambiguous language she chose. Id. Here, Ms. Cooley unambiguously identified a single "Agent" to exercise authority on her behalf in all matters governed by the Durable Power of Attorney. (R. p. 345) (appointing Ms. Weldon "to serve as my agent ("Agent") and to exercise the powers and discretions set forth below"). No one else was entitled to act for Ms. Cooley unless Ms. Weldon was "unable," "unwilling," or "unavailable to serve or to continue to serve." Id. If this qualification was met, Ms. Cooley unambiguously selected another of her daughters (Ms. Elliott) to serve as "substitute or successor Agent." Id. In the event of Ms. Weldon's unavailability, Ms. Cooley intended for no one other than Ms. Elliott to act on her behalf. It was only if Ms. Elliott was also "unable," "unwilling," or "unavailable to serve or to continue to serve" that Ms. Cooley intended to empower her third daughter Ms. Galloway to serve as her second "substitute or successor agent." Id.

The circuit court did not properly analyze this language or follow Ms. Cooley's wishes when it found the Admission Agreement was properly formed. Instead, it deduced Ms. Galloway

had legal authority solely from the fact that she was available when the Admission Agreement was presented for signature. (R. p. 24) (“the Court finds and concludes that Ms. Galloway was an available agent under the POA and had the appropriate authority to execute the Admission Agreement . . .”). This was an error of law. Ms. Galloway’s potential authority under the Durable Power of Attorney was tied not to her availability but rather the inability, unwillingness, and unavailability of her two sisters (Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott). In other words, per the Durable Power of Attorney’s plain language, Ms. Cooley did not expand Ms. Galloway’s potential authority to instances where she was available but instead strictly limited it to instances where Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott were unavailable. Since the circuit court did not properly apply South Carolina contract interpretation rules in interpreting the Durable Power of Attorney, it erred in finding Ms. Galloway had legal authority to act for Ms. Cooley and in concluding the purported arbitration contract was valid.

Beyond the circuit court’s misreading of the Durable Power of Attorney, the Facility also failed to meet its burden to prove Ms. Galloway’s purported authority. As the party seeking arbitration, it was the Facility’s burden to prove a valid contract. Minnieland Private Day Sch., Inc. v. Applied Underwriters Captive Risk Assur. Co., 867 F.3d 449, 456 (4th Cir. 2017); Fici v. Koon, 372 S.C. 341, 346, 642 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2007) (“The burden of proof is on the party seeking to enforce the contract”). Since the Admission Agreement’s validity turns on Ms. Galloway’s purported authority, it was the Facility’s duty to prove the circumstances specified in the Durable Power of Attorney were met to empower Ms. Galloway to act as second substitute agent. See Hodge, 422 S.C. at 565, 813 S.E.2d at 304 (quoting McCall v. Finley, 294 S.C. 1, 6, 362 S.E.2d 26, 29 (Ct. App. 1987) (imposing burden of proof on agency proponent and stating proof of agency “must be clearly established by the facts”)); Frasier v. Palmetto Homes of Florence, Inc., 323 S.C.

240, 244, 473 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding defendants bore burden of establishing all required elements to prove an agency relationship).

The only evidence the Facility has ever offered to claim Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott were “unable,” “unwilling,” or “unavailable” to act as Ms. Cooley’s agent was an emergency contact form listing out-of-town addresses for these two sisters. (R. pp. 105-06). The Facility never explained how Ms. Weldon or Ms. Elliott’s addresses affected their ability or willingness to sign a document like the Admission Agreement. More importantly, an extensive amount of evidence shows Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott were available. For example, Ms. Weldon’s availability to serve as agent is supported by the fact that she is listed as Ms. Cooley’s “Financially Responsible Party” in the Admission Agreement. (R. p. 309). That position meant the Facility would be looking to Ms. Weldon to advise Ms. Cooley of any changes in rent or other fees. (R. p. 314 ¶ 5). That role also purportedly made Ms. Weldon jointly and severally liable for all financial obligations Ms. Cooley had to the Facility. (R. p. 322 ¶ 17). It strains credulity for the Facility to argue an individual taking on all the monetary burden of Ms. Cooley’s admission was somehow not available to consider signing the contract that would lead to the admission.

The family’s sworn statements only further undermine the Facility’s position. Ms. Galloway’s affidavit states that neither Ms. Weldon nor Ms. Elliott ever claimed she was unwilling or unable to serve as Ms. Cooley’s agent. (R. p. 469 ¶ 10). Ms. Weldon was just as direct in stating that considering any contract that would subject Ms. Cooley to arbitration was her responsibility under the Durable Power of Attorney, and not Ms. Galloway’s. (R. p. 466 ¶¶ 1-2). Ms. Weldon also disavowed the notion that Ms. Elliott would have declined her role as first substitute agent. (R. p. 467 ¶ 4) (“there was no reason that [Ms. Elliott] was unwilling or unable to review the Admission Agreement for execution”).

Finally, the Facility has suggested it did not know the Cooley family dynamics and Ms. Galloway's signature is itself sufficient evidence of her authority. (R. p. 106). But, that argument does not account for the Durable Power of Attorney's plain language. The Durable Power of Attorney did provide a safe harbor for third parties like the Facility to know whether authority had transferred from Ms. Cooley's agent to a substitute agent:

Any party dealing with any person named as Alternate Agent hereunder may rely on as conclusively correct an affidavit or certificate under penalties of perjury of such Alternate Agent that those persons named as prior Agents are no longer serving.

(R. p. 353 ¶ 4). The Facility has not pointed to any affidavit or statement (sworn under penalty of perjury) in which Ms. Galloway certified that both Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott had both vacated their positions as agents of higher priority than Ms. Galloway. In fact, the only sworn statements are those recounted above, and they show Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott *were* available and willing to serve. The Facility cannot claim Ms. Galloway had authority under the Durable Power of Attorney while also ignoring that same document's designated procedure for determining whether she had authority.

In sum, the circuit court erred in its ruling on the threshold issue in this case. Appellant's claims could not be dismissed and arbitration could not be ordered without the Facility proving the formation of a valid arbitration contract. The only contract the Facility offered to meet this burden was not signed by Ms. Cooley or anyone with authority to act on her behalf. The circuit court erred as a matter of law in finding Ms. Galloway's availability gave her authority when Ms. Cooley plainly intended to empower Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott instead. Similarly, the Facility did not meet its burden of proof to show Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott were "unable," "unwilling," or "unavailable" to act as Ms. Cooley's agent when the documentary and testimony evidence shows they were both available and willing. As a result, the purported arbitration contract fails for

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