RECEIVED

Dec 07 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Pickens County
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Cases No. 2021-CP-39-01127 and -01128
Appellate Case No. 2023-000033

Deonda Weldon, Individually and
as Personal Representative of the Estate of Earline Cooley,

Appellant,

v.

Dominion Clemson, LLC d/b/a Dominion Senior Living at Patrick Square;
Dominion Senior Living, LLC; Dominion Clemson, II, LLC;
Dominion Management Group, LLC; and Dominion Group, LLC,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400

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

⁴⁹ (R. p. 318 § 11(D).)

⁵⁰ (R. p. 327 § 22.) Moreover, “one who has signed a contract is presumed to have read, understood, and assented to its terms.” *Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 352, 827 S.E.2d 178, 181 (Ct. App. 2019) (“[O]ne who has signed a contract is presumed to have read, understood, and assented to its terms.”).

⁵¹ (R. p. 328.)

⁵² (R. p. 323 ¶ E.)

⁵³ (R. p. 328.)

⁵⁴ (R. p. 466 ¶ 3.)

actually say she was available—nor does she say that she was not aware that Ms. Galloway was signing the Admission Agreement on Ms. Cooley’s behalf, only that she was not “aware of a potential Arbitration Agreement.” Likewise, Ms. Weldon states, “there was no reason that [Ms. Elliott] was *unwilling* or *unable* to review the Admission Agreement for execution,”⁵⁵ but she says nothing of whether Ms. Elliott was *available*—and, as explained above, by conceding that Ms. Galloway had authority under the HCPOA to sign the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff conceded she was not. Similarly, Ms. Galloway states, “at no time prior to the execution of the Admission Agreement did either one of my sisters state that they were *unwilling* or *unable* to serve as my mother’s Power of Attorney,”⁵⁶ but she, too, is silent as to Ms. Weldon and Ms. Elliott’s *availability*.

Moreover, in speaking to what she says her sisters did not say to her, Ms. Galloway implies that she was in communication with her sisters and acted with their knowledge, as she also does when she states that “*we* were under significant stress and duress in trying to obtain placement in an assisted living facility for my mother with very few options”⁵⁷ and that “this was an extremely emotional time for the *family*.” (R. p. 469 ¶ 9 (emphasis added).) And, again, although it was not in the Facility’s file when this dispute arose, according to Ms. Galloway herself, in support of her authority to sign the Admission Agreement on Ms. Cooley’s behalf, she provided the Facility with a copy of the GDPOA. (R. p. 469 ¶ 8.) All this supports the reasonable inference that Ms. Galloway was in communication with her sisters about admitting Ms. Cooley to the Facility and

⁵⁵ (R. p. 467 ¶ 4 (emphasis added).)

⁵⁶ (R. p. 469 ¶ 10 (emphasis added).)

⁵⁷ (R. p. 469 ¶ 9 (emphasis added).)

that, as Ms. Galloway was the only one who lived nearby, she was the one who was available to handle the admissions paperwork as Ms. Cooley's agent.⁵⁸

Lastly, the circuit court's finding accords with the intended flexibility and functionality reflected by the very fact that the GDPOA goes ahead and lines up multiple "substitute or successor" agents to serve depending on availability. The very fact that the GDPOA, which, again, does not specify what it means to be unavailable, is structured this way, instead of only appointing a single agent with no back up, reflects an intent to prioritize flexibility and functionality, and thereby hedge against the risk that there is no agent available to protect Ms. Cooley's interests, and the lack of any intent to undermine that flexibility and functionality by making it unduly difficult for a "substitute or successor" agent to serve.

Respectfully, Plaintiff has not shown that the circuit court committed reversible error in finding Ms. Galloway authorized to bind Ms. Cooley to the Arbitration Provision.

B. Plaintiff has not shown that the circuit court committed reversible error in finding Defendants did not waive the right to compel arbitration.

"Waiver is the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right." *Provident Life & Acc. Ins. Co. v. Driver*, 317 S.C. 471, 478, 451 S.E.2d 924, 928 (Ct. App. 1994). As Plaintiff points out, proving waiver focuses on the conduct of the allegedly waiving party,⁵⁹ as "[t]he doctrine of waiver does not necessarily imply that the party asserting waiver has been

⁵⁸ But out of an abundance of caution, Defendants note that, even if the Court disagrees that the evidence supports the reasonable conclusion that neither Ms. Weldon nor Ms. Elliott was available when Ms. Galloway signed the Admission Agreement on Ms. Cooley's behalf, it does not warrant the reversal of the circuit court on this issue outright. Rather, assuming, *arguendo*, the Court is not inclined to affirm the circuit court on the additional sustaining ground argued below, the matter should be remanded for discovery solely with respect to the availability issue to be conducted (without waiver of Defendants' arbitration rights) and further consideration of the issue by the circuit court with the benefit thereof.

⁵⁹ (Br. of Appellant p. 11.)

misled to his prejudice or into an altered position.” *Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Prop. Regime*, 307 S.C. 339, 344, 415 S.E.2d 384, 388 (1992).

The party claiming waiver has the burden of proving it, and “[g]enerally, the party claiming waiver must show that the party against whom waiver is asserted possessed, at the time, actual or constructive knowledge of his rights or of all the material facts upon which they depended.” *Janasik*, 307 S.C. at 344, 415 S.E.2d at 387–88. “[W]aiver require[s] a party to have known of a right, and known that the party was abandoning that right.” *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 85, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470–71 (2007).

“Waiver is a question of fact for the finder of fact,”⁶⁰ which in this case is the circuit court, and its “factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports the findings.” *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 22, 644 S.E.2d at 667.

There is ample evidence to support the circuit court’s factual finding that Defendants did not waive the right to arbitrate here. Defendants’ intent to preserve, and not abandon, the right to arbitration is evidenced from the outset of their response to the Litigation. Through counsel, Defendants expressly raised their potential pursuit of arbitration even before answering Plaintiff’s complaints and then expressly raised the right to arbitration in their answers. (R. p. 78 ¶ 36, pp. 400–402.) The discovery requests the Facility served successfully sought the power of attorney, the GDPOA, on which the Motion to Compel Arbitration was based; the motion was promptly made upon receipt of the GDPOA from Plaintiff; and discovery has been halted ever since, with no further written discovery conducted and no depositions having been taken at all. (R. p. 107:20–25, pp. 306–371, p. 403, p. 408 ¶ 21, pp. 421–422.)⁶¹

⁶⁰ *Parker v. Parker*, 313 S.C. 482, 487, 443 S.E.2d 388, 391 (1994).

⁶¹ And to be clear, the fact that there was some discovery conducted prior to the Motion to Compel Arbitration is not fatal. *See Toler’s Cove*, 355 S.C. 605, 612, 586 S.E.2d 581,

As for Plaintiff's point about the Facility having been sent a copy of the GDPOA via a *pre-litigation* records request,⁶² this bare fact says nothing of probative value about whether the Facility (much less the Corporate Defendants) had the requisite intention to waive the right to arbitration when the time came to respond to the Litigation. And even assuming, *arguendo*, it did, at most, it would constitute one piece of evidence and would not negate the evidence that supports the circuit court's finding against waiver.

Respectfully, Plaintiff has not shown that the circuit court committed reversible error in finding Defendants did not waive the right to compel arbitration.

C. Plaintiff has not shown that the circuit court committed reversible error in finding that the Arbitration Provision is not unconscionable.

To prove the Arbitration Provision unconscionable, Plaintiff must show both (1) that there was a lack of meaningful choice as to whether to arbitrate *and* (2) that the terms of the Arbitration Provision were so oppressive no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them. *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 24–25, 644 S.E.2d at 668; *see also Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, 612, 879 S.E.2d 746, 755 (2002) (“[A] take-it-or-leave-it contract of adhesion is not necessarily unconscionable, even though it may indicate one party lacked a meaningful choice. Rather, to constitute unconscionability, the contract terms must be so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.”).

The circuit court's unconscionability analysis focuses on the first prong of the test: whether there was a lack of meaningful choice. Rejecting Plaintiff's contention that Ms. Galloway had signed the Admission Agreement during a hurried and emotional time without

585 (2003) (“Respondent had not held any depositions or engaged in extensive discovery requests. Accordingly, respondent did not waive its right to enforce the arbitration clause.”).

being aware of the Arbitration Provision, the circuit court found that the Arbitration Provision was conspicuously set forth in the Admission Agreement under a bolded and capitalized heading and that Ms. Galloway, a competent adult, had signed the Admission Agreement, which she had expressly acknowledged having had the opportunity to read before signing, twenty-two (22) days in advance of Ms. Cooley’s admission. (R. pp. 9–11.) Its findings are amply supported by the evidence (already cited herein) and the law. *See Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 541, 542 S.E.2d 360, 365 (2001) (rejecting argument that an arbitration provision was unconscionable as an adhesion contract where the opponents of arbitration were not advised the provision was included in the contract); *id.* (“Under state law, an adhesion contract is not per se unconscionable. Further, a person who can read is bound to read an agreement before signing it.”) (internal citations omitted); *Gibson*, 426 S.C. at 352, 827 S.E.2d at 181 (“[O]ne who has signed a contract is presumed to have read, understood, and assented to its terms.”).

As for whether “the terms of the *Admission Agreement* are so oppressive that no fair or honest person would accept them,”⁶³ the circuit court expressly—and, to be sure, correctly—“decline[d] to review the liability and damages limiting provisions of the *Admission Agreement*”⁶⁴ pursuant to the *Prima Paint* doctrine. *See Damico*, 437 S.C. at 608–09, 879 S.E.2d at 753 (“Pursuant to the *Prima Paint* doctrine, the FAA requires courts to separate the validity of an arbitration clause from the validity of the contract in which it is embedded.”); *id.* at 609, 879 S.E.2d at 753 (Accordingly, “in conducting an unconscionability inquiry, courts may

⁶² (Br. of Appellant p. 16.)

⁶³ (R. p. 9 (emphasis added).)

⁶⁴ (R. p. 11 (emphasis added).)

only consider the provisions of the arbitration agreement itself, and not those of the whole contract.”) (quoting *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 42, 48, 790 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2016)).⁶⁵

The order granting the Motion to Compel Arbitration does not rule on whether any term of the Admission Agreement is unduly oppressive, much less whether any term of the Arbitration Provision itself is unduly oppressive. (R. pp. 9–11.) And Plaintiff having sought no such ruling from the circuit court via a Rule 59(e) motion, any argument based on allegedly unduly oppressive terms is not preserved for review. *See Elam*, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779–80 (“Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.”); *id.* at 24, 602 S.E.2d at 780 (“[O]ur rules contemplate two basic situations in which a party should consider filing a Rule 59(e) motion. A party *may* wish to file such a motion when she believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it. A party *must* file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.”) (emphasis in original).

Moreover, Plaintiff’s argument about unduly oppressive terms has always been based on the alleged collective oppressiveness of the Arbitration Provision and terms outside of the Arbitration Provision. (*See, e.g.*, Br. of Appellant p. 20 (“In sum, the Admission Agreement’s *arbitration and dispute resolution provisions* cannot stand.”) (emphasis added); R. p. 439 (“The unconscionability is evidenced by multiple integral terms to the agreement including, but not limited to,”)) Such an argument cannot possibly prevail, because, again, pursuant to the *Prima Paint* doctrine, “in conducting an unconscionability inquiry, courts may only consider the provisions of the arbitration agreement itself, and not those of the whole contract.” *Damico*, 437

⁶⁵ The *Prima Paint* doctrine gets its name from the United State Supreme Court’s

S.C. at 609, 879 S.E.2d at 753 (quoting *D.R. Horton*, 417 S.C. at 48, 790 S.E.2d at 4). And on the other side of this coin, we have the fact that, in addition to the above-referenced preservation problem, by tying her oppression argument to the alleged oppressiveness of terms outside the Arbitration Provision itself, Plaintiff has abandoned any argument that the terms of the Arbitration Provision itself are unduly oppressive. See *First Savings Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (issues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal).

And in any event, the terms of the Arbitration Provision itself are not unconscionable. The only aspect of the Arbitration Provision about which Plaintiff has complained is its prohibition against the arbitrator awarding punitive damages to any party. (R. pp. 320–321.) “In analyzing claims of unconscionability in the context of arbitration agreements, the Fourth Circuit has instructed courts to focus generally on whether the arbitration clause is geared towards achieving an unbiased decision by a neutral decision-maker.” *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 25, 644 S.E.2d at 668. And the mere removal of punitive damages from the equation neither compromises the arbitrator’s neutrality nor in any way requires that the arbitrator award a successful claimant anything less than the full amount of any and all actual damages (whether based on economic or non-economic injury or loss) that the arbitrator determines the claimant is owed as compensation.

Contrast the instant matter with *Simpson*, wherein our Supreme Court found the following language in an arbitration provision to be unconscionable: “[i]n no event shall the arbitrator be authorized to award punitive, exemplary, double, or treble damages (or any other damages which are punitive in nature or effect) against either party.” 373 S.C. at 28, 644 S.E.2d

decision in *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395, 403–04 (1967).

at 670. The *Simpson* Court’s decision was not based on the provision’s limitation on *punitive* damages, but rather its limitation on *statutory* remedies, which restriction the Court found violative of public policy in that it violated the statutory law by preventing the claimant from receiving “the *mandatory statutory remedies* to which she may be entitled in her underlying SCUTPA and Dealers Act claims.” *Id.* at 29–30, 644 S.E.2d at 671 (emphasis added). In the instant matter, Plaintiff asserts no claim for any statutory remedies,⁶⁶ and even if she did, the Arbitration Provision does not limit them, only “punitive damages.” (R. p. 321.)

At most, the enforceability of an arbitration provision excluding punitive damages is an open question. *Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United HealthCare Servs., Inc.*, 361 S.C.544, 555, 606 S.E.2d 752, 758 (2004) (“This Court has not addressed whether it violates South Carolina public policy for parties to voluntarily forgo punitive damages in an arbitration agreement.”). And, as our Supreme Court has recognized, “[a] number of courts in other jurisdictions have held that an arbitration agreement limiting or excluding punitive damages is enforceable.” *Id.* at 556, 606 S.E.2d at 758. But in any event, this question does not provide a basis for this Court to reverse the circuit court. *Id.* at 557, 606 S.E.2d at 759 (holding that the question of whether an arbitration provision’s exclusion of punitive damages was enforceable was not ripe for appellate review for two reasons: “First, it is unclear whether [the claimant] will prevail on the merits in arbitration. Second, it is unclear whether an arbitrator would find that punitive damages are warranted. Accordingly, we hold that any challenge that the clause violates public policy is premature.”) (citing *Hawkins v. Aid Assn. for Lutherans*, 338 F.3d 801 (7th Cir. 2003) (holding that complaints about the unavailability of punitive damages must first be presented to the arbitrator)).

⁶⁶ (R. pp. 29–46, pp. 56–73.)

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